2005

Marjean Deakin v. Bernard Gomez and Ramona Gomez : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction over this appeal lies with the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- (1) Did the statute of limitations run against appellee's claims that an oral agreement was entered into in 1976 to give appellee real estate?
- (2) Is there any evidence of adverse possession?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A question of law can be reviewed for correctness and a clearly erroneous standard of review of the subsidiary factual determination of when the plaintiff should have known of their alleged legal injuries. Spears v. Warr, 44 P.3d 742.

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The relevant statutory provision for statute of limitations is UCA 78-12-25 (2002)

The relevant statutory provision for adverse possession is U.C.A. 78-12-5 through 78-12-14.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The events of this case surround a relationship between Bernard Gomez and Marjean Deakin that began in 1973. (R. 319) Several years into the relationship, in 1977, Mr. Gomez purchased a duplex at 468 and 470 East Sherman Ave. that was titled in his name. (R. 316) Mr. Gomez testified that at sometime after 1977, he added his wife's name to the title. (Trial Transcript P. 37) In order to purchase the home, he both obtained a loan from a friend and a mortgage on the property. (Temporary Restraining Order Transcript P.32)

Shortly after the purchase of the home, Ms. Deakin became a resident of 468 East Sherman Avenue, while the other portion of the duplex was occupied by various tenants since 1977 (R. 316). The central contention between the parties at the present date is the nature of the transaction in which Ms. Deakin became the occupant of the home. Ms. Deakin believes that the home was given to her as a gift, (R. 316), while Mr. Gomez contends that Ms. Deakin was to live in a portion of the home and manage the other portion of the duplex (Trial P. 39).

Under either theory, since Ms. Deakin has occupied the home, she has collected rent on the 470 E. Sherman Ave. portion of the duplex and used those rents to pay for repairs and to pay Mr. Gomez's mortgage. (R. 316). The relationship between Mr. Gomez and Ms. Deakin continued for several years, eventually ending in 1993. (R. 319). During the duration of their relationship, Ms. Deakin represents that she requested a deed of Mr. Gomez often, but that Mr. Gomez never gave her a deed.(R. 317).

In October of 2004, Mr. Gomez enlisted a real estate agent to sell the Sherman Avenue duplex, titled in the names of Mr. and Mrs. Gomez. Id. After conversations with both the real estate agent and Mr. Gomez, (Temp. Rest. Order P. 93), Ms. Deakin filed an action to quiet title against Mr. Gomez (R. 1-16).

The lower court found Ms. Deakin the prevailing party under two of the six causes of actions alleged in plaintiff's complaint. (R. 322) First, that she was entitled to the property under Quiet Title/Adverse possession pursuant to U.C.A. 78-12-5 through 78-12-14 and U.C.A. 78-40-1 et seq. Second, that she had prevailed under a theory of detrimental reliance and promissory estoppel. (R. 322) From this judgment, the defendant filed an appeal on October 11, 2005. (R. 416-17).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the lower courts ruling enforcing an oral agreement that gave title to appellee because the cause of action is barred by the statute of limitations and the evidence does not support adverse possession. This case is based on an alleged oral agreement between the parties in 1978 that gave appellee a home owned by appellant. However, enforcement of the agreement is barred by the statute of limitations. In order to enforce an oral agreement, the action must be brought within four years. The statute of limitations for a cause of action begins to run when the last event necessary to complete the cause of action arises. It is not necessary that the party know that a legal cause of action is associated with the relevant facts.

Ms. Deakin's cause of action is barred by the statute of limitations because it seeks to enforce an oral agreement. In order to enforce an oral agreement, she must have

brought her cause of action within four years, or by 1982. All elements necessary to prove a cause of action were present in 1978. She knew Mr. Gomez had gifted her a piece of real property, that she had accepted it, and that she had not received a deed after repeated requests of Mr. Gomez.

In order to sustain a cause of action for adverse possession, the possession must be actual, adverse, exclusive, open, notorious, visible, continuous, and undisturbed possession for a period of seven years. Moreover, the legal titleholder must be put on notice of the adverse claim.

The findings of fact in this case do not support a conclusion of adverse possession. The element of adverse was not met. Moreover, Mr. Gomez was not placed on notice that she intended to hold the property adversely.

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND IN MS. DEAKIN'S FAVOR BECAUSE HER CAUSE OF ACTION WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND BECAUSE A CONCLUSION OF ADVERSE POSSESSION IS UNSUPPORTED BY THE FACTS.

- A. Ms. Deakin's cause of action is barred by the statute of limitations because the events surrounding her cause of action occurred in 1978.

The statute of limitations barred recovery in this case after 1982. The statute of limitations begins to run when the last event necessary to complete the cause of action arises. Burtkholz v. Joyce, 972 P.2d 1235 (1998); Cheves v. Williams, 993 P.2d 191 (1999); Valley Colour, Inc. v. Beuchert Builders, Inc., 944 P.2d 361 (1997).

When a child was abused by a priest in the 1970's, but did not file a cause of action until after 2000, the court found that the action was barred by the statute of limitations. Colosimo v. Roman Catholic Bishop, 104 P.3d 646, 652 (Utah App. 2004). The court articulated the general rule "[t]hat a cause of action accrues upon the happening of the last event necessary to complete the cause of action." (Court quoting Myers v. McDonald, 635 P.2d 84, 86 (Utah 1981)). The court also noted that "mere ignorance of the existence of a cause of action does not prevent the running of the statute of limitations." Id. Because the victims were aware of all facts necessary to constitute a claim during the limitations period, the statute of limitations had run.

Moreover, the statute of limitations continues to run if a cause of action has arisen even if there is no knowledge that the events lead to a legal cause of action. In the case of a wrongful death suit, the court noted that "the mere ignorance of the existence of a cause of action does not prevent the running of the statute of limitations." Myers, 635 P.2d at 86

As is similar to the Colosimo case, the events surrounding this suit occurred many years ago, beyond the statute of limitations. (R. 316) Moreover, the events necessary to create a cause of action occurred many years ago. Whereas, the injured parties in the Colosimo case could have filed a cause of action prior to the running of the statute of limitations, so could the parties in this action. According to Ms. Deakin's recollection of the events, Mr. Gomez gave her the home as a gift. (R. 316) She asked him for the deed, and after many years of requests, he did not give her the deed. (R. 317) Within a reasonable time period after requesting the deed and not receiving it, Ms. Deakin could

have sued Mr. Gomez for enforcement of the promise. However, she did not. She waited until almost thirty years later, well beyond the limitations period. (R. 1-16)

As an exception to the “last event necessary” rule, the courts have articulated some exceptions where a discovery rule may be applicable. In the case of Burkholtz, the court articulated as follows:

“The Utah Supreme Court has recognized three situations in which the discovery rule applies:

(1) in situations where the discovery rule is mandated by statute; (2) in situations where the plaintiff does not become aware of the cause of action because of the defendant's concealment or misleading conduct; and (3) in situations where the case presents exceptional circumstances and the application of the general rule would be irrational or unjust, regardless of any showing that the defendant has prevented the discovery of the cause of action.

Burkholz, 972 P.2d at 1237 (quotations and citation omitted).”

The first situation is when the discovery rule is mandated by statute. There appears to be no application of that situation to this case.

The second situation where the discovery rule applies is where the plaintiff does not become aware of the cause of action because of the defendant's concealment or misleading conduct. The courts have further limited this to be concealment of facts necessary to bring a cause of action. “Even if Defendants somehow concealed facts related to their knowledge of abuse, those facts would not require application of the discovery rule because they would not reveal any facts necessary for Plaintiff's to bring their claims.” Colosimo, 104 P.3d at 653.

The third situation in which the discovery rule is applicable is the presence of exceptional circumstances. The court notes that “[b]efore a period of limitations may be tolled under the [exceptional circumstances] version[] of the discovery rule, an initial

showing must be made that the plaintiff did not know and could not reasonably have discovered the facts underlying the cause of action in time to commence an action within that period. Burkholz, 972 P.2d at 1237 (second and third alterations in original) (quotations, citations, and emphasis omitted).

In applying the discovery principles outlined in Burkholtz, the Colosimo court found that regardless of defendant's actions, if the plaintiff "at some point during the limitations period, ha[d] knowledge of the facts underlying his claim." Burkholtz, 972 P.2d at 1237. In applying, the court articulated that "[e]ven if Defendants somehow concealed their knowledge of [priest's] abuse, those fact would not require application of the discovery rule because they would not reveal any facts necessary for Plaintiff's to bring their claim." Colosimo, 104 P.3d at 653.

Like in the Colosimo case, Mr. Gomez did not conceal any facts necessary for Ms. Deakin to bring her claim. According to her recollections, she knew she had received a gift. She knew she had accepted the gift, and most importantly, she knew she had not received a deed despite her requests. These were all the facts necessary to sustain a cause of action. No facts have evolved since that time period that affect the ability to bring a cause of action.

The third option does not apply in this case because not only could she have reasonably discovered the facts necessary, she already knew the facts necessary to file a cause of action within the limitations period.

B. The lower court erred in concluding that Appellee acquired the home through adverse possession.

The conclusion of law based on adverse possession is unsupported by the facts. In order to meet the elements of adverse possession, there must be actual, adverse, exclusive, open, notorious, visible, continuous, and undisturbed possession for a period of seven years. U.C.A. 78-12-5 through 14.