2005

Marjean A. Deakin v. Bernard Gomez and Ramona Gomez : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, this Court should affirm the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law because the Appellants failed to marshal the evidence as required by Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and applicable appellate case law. Mr. and Mrs. Gomez have not marshaled the evidence to demonstrate why the trial court's specific finding that the statute of limitations began to run on October 27, 2004 was in error. Furthermore, Appellants have not marshaled any evidence to explain why the trial court's findings and conclusions that Ms. Deakin met the statutory and case law elements for quiet title and adverse possession should be reversed.

Second, this Court should affirm the trial court's finding that the statute of limitations commenced to run on October 27, 2004. In Appellant's brief, Mr. and Mrs. Gomez do not give any reasons, cite to any evidence, or cite to any detailed finding of fact to support their claim that all the elements to prove a cause of action were present in 1978. Mr. Gomez completely ignores his admission that prior to October 27, 2004, he had not informed Ms. Deakin that he was going to sell the house. For 28 years, she detrimentally relied on his statements that the house was hers. Since 1977, she acted consistently with Mr. Gomez's statements that she was responsible to pay for the mortgage, the taxes, the utilities, and all improvements to the property. Neither Mr. nor Mrs. Gomez gave Ms. Deakin any notice of legal injury prior to October 27, 2004.

Third, this Court should affirm the trial court's findings and conclusions that Ms. Deakin has met the statutory and case law elements for quiet title and adverse possession. She has shown that in 1993, Mr. Gomez ended their relationship. Since 1993, she has had actual, adverse, exclusive, open, notorious, visible, continuous, and undisturbed possession for a period of seven-years or greater. She has continuously paid the property taxes on the property during a period exceeding seven-years, and she has made and paid for all improvements to the property.

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE No. 1

MR. AND MRS. GOMEZ FAILED TO MARSHAL THE EVIDENCE AS REQUIRED BY RULE 24 OF THE UTAH RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE AND APPLICABLE APPELLATE CASE LAW TO DEMONSTRATE THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW SHOULD BE REVERSED. THUS, APPELLANTS' APPEAL MUST FAIL, AND THE FINDINGS AFFIRMED.

If the appellant has not met the marshalling requirement, the appellate court is required to affirm that the Findings of Fact are correct, and the appeal must fail.

(Valcarce vs. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 312 (Utah 1998); see also Johnson vs.

Higley, 989 P.2d 61, 72 (Utah Ct. App. 1999)). The trial court's Findings of Fact

must be affirmed and this appeal must fail because Mr. and Mrs. Gomez did not

marshal the evidence to demonstrate why the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of

Law are clearly erroneous. There are clear procedural requirements outlined in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and applicable case law for marshalling the evidence.

Rule 24(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate procedure states:

[t]he brief of the appellant shall contain under appropriate headings and in the order indicated:

(a)(9) An Argument. The argument shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented ... A party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding.
(Utah R. App. P. 24(a))

This Court has held that the appellant must clearly marshal the evidence in the “argument section” of appellant’s brief. (Fitzgerald vs. Critchfield, 744 P.2d 301, 304 (Utah Ct. App. 1987)) “To comply with the marshalling requirement, appellants must marshal all the favorable evidence at the point at which they challenge the factual finding.” (Roderick vs. Ricks, 54 P.3d 1119 (Utah 2002)) The marshalling requirement, which is to be found in the argument section of the brief, is “neither elective nor optional.” (Fitzgerald vs. Critchfield, 744 P.2d 301, 304 (Utah Ct. App. 1987))

The marshalling requirement entails a “listing [of] all the evidence supporting the finding that is challenged. Once the evidence is listed ... with appropriate citations to the record, the appellant must then show that the marshaled evidence is legally insufficient to support the findings ...” (Judge

Norman H. Jackson, “Utah Standards of Appellate Review: Revised,” 12 Utah Bar J. 8, 13 (1999))

Rule 24 of the Utah Rules of Appellate is to be read in conjunction with Rule 52(a) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 52(a) states, “Findings of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, shall not be set aside unless clearly erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses.” (Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a)).

In interpreting Rule 52, the Utah Supreme Court has held an appellate court “will not reverse the findings of fact of a trial court sitting without a jury unless they are . . . clearly erroneous.” (Orton v. Carter, 970 P.2d 1254, 1256 (Utah 1998); citations omitted) The Court of Appeals will review the trial court's conclusions of law “for correctness, according the trial court no particular deference.” (Orton, 970 P.2d at 1256). The “clearly erroneous” standard applies whether the case is one in equity or one at law. (Baker vs. Francis, 741 P.2d 548 (Utah Ct. App. 1987)) If the appellant has not met the marshalling requirement, the appellate court is required to affirm that the Findings of Fact are correct, and the appeal must fail. (Valcarce vs. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 312 (Utah 1998); see also Johnson vs. Higley, 989 P.2d 61, 72 (Utah Ct. App. 1999)).

Mr. and Mrs. Gomez fail to marshal any of the extensive oral and documentary evidence taken at the Temporary Restraining Order hearing, the Preliminary Injunction hearing, or at the bench trial in their argument section. (Appellants’ Brief 3, 6-10) The trial court relied on the testimony, documentary

evidence, and pleadings presented at each of these proceedings to make its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R. 314) However, in lieu of marshalling the evidence, Mr. and Mrs. Gomez's brief first reargues their position that the four year statute of limitations bars Ms. Deakin's claims. (Appellant's Brief 6-9) The trial court rejected the Gomez's statute of limitations argument at least three times – first, at the Preliminary Injunction hearing (Transcript of Preliminary Injunction p. 111-122), second, on Mr. Gomez's Motion to Dismiss (R. 54-59, 91-106, 120), and third, at trial (R. 314-325).

After the trial court entered its initial Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in April 2005, Mr. and Mrs. Gomez filed a Motion to Amend the Findings of Fact for a specific finding to add a paragraph finding that the Statute of Limitations defense raised in Defendants' pleadings was denied based upon detrimental reliance by Plaintiff. (R. 285) On June 3, 2005, the trial court amended its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law to include a statement on the Statute of Limitations commencing to run on October 27, 2004. (R. 320, 321, 324)

The trial court specifically found Ms. Deakin never heard anything contrary to Mr. Gomez's commitment that the property was hers until October 27, 2004 when Mr. Gomez's real estate agent informed Ms. Deakin he was selling the property. (R. 317; Transcript of Preliminary Injunction p. 111-114) This was the first action inconsistent with his gift of the property. (R. 317) Mr. Gomez admitted that prior to October 27, 2004, he had not informed Ms. Deakin that he was going to sell the property. (R. Admitted Facts 319, 320) Mr. Gomez admitted

that Ms. Deakin did not receive any notice of legal injury prior to October 27, 2004. (R. Admitted Facts 319, 320)

None of these facts appears in the Appellants' argument section to marshal the evidence as to why the trial court's findings should be reversed. (Appellant's Brief 6-9) Not only do Appellants fail to marshal any evidence as to the findings that the statute of limitations began to run on October 27, 2004, but they also do not marshal any evidence for their argument that the adverse possession finding must be reversed. (Appellant's Brief 10)

Mr. and Mrs. Gomez simply make a blanket assertion without any citation to the record that the trial court erred in finding that Ms. Deakin gained title to the property through adverse possession. (Appellant's Brief 10) Mr. and Mrs. Gomez ignore the findings and conclusions that Ms. Deakin had actual, adverse, exclusive, open, notorious, visible, continuous, and undisturbed possession for a period greater than seven years, and she paid for all taxes and improvements to the property for the past 28 years. (R. 316-325) Mr. Gomez has not visited the property, made any improvements thereto, and he was not aware of any of the improvements Ms. Deakin made to the property – especially her changing the locks on the doors. (R. 320; see Trail Transcript 55-57) Because Mr. and Mrs. Gomez have failed to marshal the evidence, the appellate court is required to affirm that the Findings of Fact are correct, and the appeal must fail. (Valcarce vs. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 312 (Utah 1998); see also Johnson vs. Higley, 989 P.2d 61 (Utah Ct. App. 1999)).

ISSUE No. 2

TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND AND CONCLUDED THAT THE FOUR-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS STARTED TO RUN ON OCTOBER 27, 2004, WHEN MS. DEAKIN LEARNED FOR THE FIRST TIME IN 28 YEARS THAT MR. GOMES WAS GOING TO SELL THE HOUSE AND THUS, TAKE ACTION INCONSISTENT WITH HIS GIFT OF THE DUPLEX TO HER.

The statute of limitations for oral contracts is four years. (U.C.A. §78-12-25) Mr. and Mrs. Gomez argue that the Mr. Gomez entered into an oral contract with Ms. Deakin in 1976 and that the statute of limitations ran in 1982 thus, barring Ms. Deakin's suit. (Appellant's Brief p. 3, 6) Mr. and Mrs. Gomez assert their argument without any citation to the record. Furthermore, Mr. Gomez did not own the property in 1976, thus, an oral contract could not have been formed in 1976, and the statute of limitations could not commence to run in 1976.

Ms. Deakin counters that the trial court correctly found that statute of limitations did not commence to run until October 27, 2004, the date that Mr. Gomez's real estate agent abruptly informed Ms. Deakin that Mr. Gomez was selling the property. (R. 317; Transcript of Preliminary Injunction p. 111-115) Mr. Gomez admitted that prior to October 27, 2004, he had not informed Ms. Deakin that he was going to sell the house. (R. Admitted Facts 320) Ms. Deakin did not receive any notice of legal injury prior to October 27, 2004. (R. Admitted Facts 320) None of these correct and relevant facts appear in the Appellants' argument section to marshal the evidence as to why the trial court's findings should be reversed. (Appellant's Brief 6-9)

Though Mr. and Mrs. Gomez and Ms. Deakin cite different case law in their respective briefs, each agree, the statute of limitations begins to run when the last event necessary to complete the cause of action arises. (Spears vs. Warr, 44 P.3d 742, 753 (Utah 2002); citations omitted) The Supreme Court and this Court have articulated exceptions to the last event necessary rule, where, “the discovery rule tolls the limitations period until facts forming the basis for the cause of action are discovered (Id.) In the case of Spears vs. Warr, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

The discovery rule applies (1) in situations where the discovery rule is mandated by statute; (2) in situations where a plaintiff does not become aware of the cause of action because of the defendant’s concealment or misleading conduct; and (3) in situations where the case presents exceptional circumstances and the application of the general rule would be irrational or unjust, regardless of any showing that the defendant has prevented the discovery of the cause of action. Under the discovery rule, the limitations period does not begin to run until the discovery of facts forming the basis for the cause of action. (Spears vs. Warr, 44 P.3d 742, 753 (Utah 2002); citations omitted)

It is undisputed that the first scenario where the discovery rule is mandated by statute is inapplicable to this case. However, the second scenario where a plaintiff does not become aware of the cause of action because of the defendant’s misleading conduct is applicable to this case.

During the course of their relationship, Ms. Deakin asked Mr. Gomez numerous times to have the title of the duplex put in her name as he had promised.

(R. 317, See Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing p. 111-115; see also Addendum) Each time she followed up with him, Mr. Gomez would say, “I’ll get around to it, babe, I’ll get around to it.” (R. 317, see Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing p. 111-115; see also Addendum Exhibit 2) Ms. Deakin never made such requests in writing because she relied on Mr. Gomez’s promise that he would get around to putting title in to her name. (R. 317) The parties did not consider a formal deed to be essential to completing the gift. (R. 317)

Ms. Deakin is an unsophisticated, uninformed, and inexperienced person when it comes to real estate. (R. 316, see Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing p. 111-115; see also Addendum Exhibit 2) For 28 years, Mr. Gomez led Ms. Deakin to believe that he had made a gift of the duplex to her. (R. 321; see Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing p. 111-115; see also Addendum, Exhibit 2) He caused her to rely on his statements that he would get around to putting the title of the duplex in her name as he promised. (R. 321, see Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing p. 111-115; see also Addendum Exhibit 2) In reliance upon Mr. Gomez’s assurances, Ms. Deakin continued to act consistently with her good faith belief that Mr. Gomez had given her the property by paying the mortgage, the taxes, insurance, and for improvements for 28 years. (R. 321)

It is critical to remember that Mr. Gomez admitted that prior to October 27, 2004, he had not informed Ms. Deakin that he was going to sell the property. (R. Admitted Facts 319, 320) Ms. Deakin did not receive any notice of legal injury prior to October 27, 2004. (R. Admitted Facts 319, 320) Again, none of these

facts appears in Appellants' argument section. Appellants completely ignore the facts – especially their admitted facts. (R. Admitted Facts 319, 320) If the statute of limitations was to have run prior to October 27, 2004, it was tolled because Mr. Gomez mislead Ms. Deakin and caused her to rely upon his words.

The third scenario of exceptional circumstances is also applicable to Ms. Deakin's case, "where the case presents exceptional circumstances and the application of the general rule would be irrational or unjust, regardless of any showing that the defendant has prevented the discovery of the cause of action." (Spears vs. Warr, 44 P.3d 742, 753 (Utah 2002); citations omitted) After receiving all the testimony and evidence from the Temporary Restraining Order hearing, the Preliminary Injunction hearings, and from the trial, the trial court found:

Based on all of the evidence and the Court's evaluation of the demeanor and credibility of Plaintiff and Defendant Mr. Gomez on the witness stand, the Court further finds based on clear, convincing, and unequivocal evidence, that in the context of Defendant Mr. Gomez's actions, the extended relationship of the parties, the statements made to Plaintiff by Defendant Mr. Gomez in April 1977 and thereafter, and Plaintiff's consistent behavior for 28 years, Defendant did make a gift of the property to the Plaintiff in April 1977 and the Plaintiff reasonably believed in good faith that such a gift had been made, and Plaintiff acted in good faith reliance upon that belief. Moreover, acting upon her belief that such a gift had been made, the Plaintiff made valuable, substantial, and beneficial improvements to the property along with paying the costs of such improvements and paying the mortgage on the property for 28 years. Further, the Court finds, that revoking the gift or rescinding the gift at this time

would be inequitable to the parties, and specifically to Plaintiff who, for 28 years has detrimentally relied upon her good faith belief that a gift was made to her by Defendant Mr. Gomez. (R. 321-322)

The trial court correctly found that it would be inequitable, or in other words unjust, to revoke or rescind the gift, especially given Ms. Deakin's detrimental reliance and good faith actions for 28 years. (R. 321-322) Thus, if the statute of limitations was to have expired prior to October 27, 2004, it was tolled because of the exceptional circumstances and the unjust result it would cause.

The trial court's findings that the statutory period began to run on October 27, 2004 should be affirmed because Mr. Gomez led Ms. Deakin to believe he gifted the house to her, he led her to believe he would transfer title in her name, and he caused her to believe that by paying the mortgage, the taxes, and the improvements the house was hers. Mr. Gomez admitted that he did not tell Ms. Deakin prior to October 27, 2004 that he was going to sell the house. (R. 314-325; see Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing 111-115; see also Addendum Exhibit 2). Mr. and Mrs. Gomez did not give Ms. Deakin any notice of legal injury prior to October 27, 2004. (R. 320) It would be unjust to revoke the gift after Ms. Deakin has paid the mortgage, the taxes, and all improvements for 28 years. This Court should affirm the trial court's findings.

ISSUE No. 3

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND AND CONCLUDED THAT MS. DEAKIN HAD ACTUAL, ADVERSE, EXCLUSIVE, OPEN, NOTORIOUS, VISIBLE, CONTINUOUS, AND UNDISTURBED POSSESSION FOR A PERIOD OF GREATER THAN SEVEN-YEARS. SHE HAS CONTINUOUSLY PAID THE PROPERTY TAXES FOR THE PROPERTY FOR 28 YEARS, AND SHE HAS MADE AND PAID FOR ALL IMPROVEMENTS TO THE PROPERTY FOR MORE THAN SEVEN YEARS.

Ms. Deakin claims quiet title by adverse possession not founded on a written instrument. Mr. and Mrs. Gomez make a blanket statement that “the conclusion of law based on adverse possession is unsupported by the facts” without marshalling any evidence to support their argument. (Appellants’ Brief p. 10) The record on appeal and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law support the trial court’s finding of adverse possession. (R. 314-235)

A. Elements for Adverse Possession

Ms. Deakin asserts title by adverse possession not founded on a written instrument. One who claims title by adverse possession must bring themselves within the statutory provisions. (Jenkins vs. Morgan, 196 P.2d 871 (Utah 1948) “Possession of the real property is presumed to be in the legal title holder and that occupancy by any other is deemed to be subordinate to that title unless the occupant can show that the property has been held and possessed adversely for seven-years.” (Olwell vs. Clark, 658 P.2d 585, 587 (Utah 1982); U.C.A. §78-12-7) “It is widely recognized that in order to show successful adverse possession, the claimant must intend to acquire title, must by declaration or conduct give actual or

constructive notice to the legal title holder, and must possess the property in a manner variously called ‘open,’ ‘notorious,’ or ‘hostile’ for a period of seven years.” (Olwell vs. Clark, 658 P.2d 585, 587 (Utah 1982); U.C.A. §78-12-7, 78-12-10, 78-12-11, 78-12-12) “In order for a claimant to give notice, it must be conduct that is inconsistent with the rights of the owner.” (Olwell vs. Clark, 658 P.2d 585, 587 (Utah 1982) The claimant must also have paid all taxes levied against the property for seven-years prior to filing the action. (U.C.A. §78-12-12)

B. Legal Title

The person establishing legal title to the property is presumed to be the owner unless it appears that a person has held and possessed adversely to such right for a period of seven-years. (Olwell vs. Clark, 658 P.2d 585, 587 (Utah 1982); U.C.A. §78-12-7)

In the present case, neither Mr. nor Mrs. Gomez marshaled any evidence that they are in fact the legal title holders to 468 E. and 470 E. Sherman Ave., Salt Lake City, Utah. (R. 316; see Appellant’s Brief 10) In 1977, Mr. Gomez bought the duplex located at 468 E. and 470 E. Sherman Ave., Salt Lake City, Utah, as a gift for Ms. Deakin (R. 316) In April 1977, Mr. Gomez gave Ms. Deakin the keys to the duplex, and he gave her possession and exclusive control of the house. (R. 316) Ms. Deakin testified that Mr. Gomez told her the house was hers, and she could do with it as she chose. (R. 316) When Mr. Gomez gave Ms. Deakin the keys, possession, and exclusive control of the duplex, he told her to pay the mortgage to the mortgage company, to pay the taxes through the mortgage escrow

account, to pay for all of the improvements, to pay for all of the utility bills, and so forth. (R. 316)

Sometime after 1977, Mr. Gomez added his wife, Ramona Gomez, to the Certificate of Title. (R. 316) Though Ms. Deakin states that the Certificate of Title speaks for itself, neither Mr. nor Mrs. Gomez offered a copy of the Certificate of Title or a copy of the Mortgage or any such evidence during any of the hearings or at trial proving that they are in fact the recorded titleholders of the property in question. (R. 316) Mr. and Mrs. Gomez did not submit any evidence to the trial court which would indicate that Mrs. Gomez's name was placed on the title at any time or that she ever took any action in the property. (R. 316)

Ms. Deakin is an unsophisticated, uninformed, and inexperienced person when it comes to real estate. (R. 316) Nonetheless, Ms. Deakin asked Mr. Gomez numerous times for him to put the title of the duplex in her name as he had promised. (R. 317) Each time she followed up with him, Mr. Gomez would say, "I'll get around to it, babe, I'll get around to it." (R. 317) Ms. Deakin has relied on Mr. Gomez's promise that he would get around to putting title in to her name. (R. 317)

Ms. Deakin has held herself out as the owner of the house. (R. 316-325) The trial court received into evidence Ms. Deakin's testimony and copies of canceled checks for at least the past 20 years proving her payment of the mortgage and taxes. (R. 314-317) At the Preliminary Injunction hearing, Mr. Ed Aho testified that Ms. Deakin has always claimed to be the owner of the duplex. (R.

316; see also Transcript of Preliminary Injunction Hearing) The clear weight of the evidence shows Ms. Deakin has held the property for the past 28 years. (R. 316-319)

C. Open, Notorious, Continuous, Adverse, Hostile, Exclusive Possession with Notice of Adverse Interests and Improvements (Olwell vs. Clark, 658 P.2d 585, 587 (Utah 1982))

In 1993, Mr. Gomez ended his relationship with Ms. Deakin. (R. 317, 319, 320) Thus, the elements of hostility, adverseness, open, notorious, exclusive possession, and notice of adverse interests commenced.

Mr. Gomez testified to the following: He did not pay for any of the improvements to the house listed above. (R. Admitted Facts 319, 320) He did not know that the garages had been torn down within the past ten years. (R. 320; Trial Transcript p. 55) He has not paid for, known of, or made any improvements to the house for the past ten years. (R. 320, Trial Transcript p. 55) He did not know that the locks to the house had been changed. (Trial Transcript p. 55-57) He has not visited the property within the past ten years. (R. 320, Trial Transcript p. 55) Neither Mr. nor Mrs. Gomez have ever occupied or possessed the duplex. (R. Admitted Facts 319) Because Mrs. Gomez did not appear at any of the proceedings in this case, it is questionable whether she ever knew of the duplex and Mr. Gomez's romantic relationship with Ms. Deakin.

Mr. and Mrs. Gomez argue that they were not put on notice of an adverse interest. (Appellant's Brief p. 10) However, they do not marshal any evidence to

support their claim. (Id.) The Utah Supreme Court has set forth the requirement that notice, whether actual or constructive, must be given. (Olwell vs. Clark, 658 P.2d 585, 587 (Utah 1982) “In order for a claimant to give notice, it must be conduct that is inconsistent with the rights of the owner.” (Olwell at 587)

Since at least 1993, when Mr. Gomez stopped contacting Ms. Deakin, she has taken the following actions: she tore down the garages, she changed the locks, new roof, new water/sewer main line, new back porch and railings, new 220 volt electrical wiring, new air conditioning units, new water heaters, new light fixtures, new ceiling fans, new carpet, several coats of new paint, new storm doors, several new stoves, several new refrigerators, and new pipes and drains for clothes washers. (R. 318) The trial court received into evidence proof that Ms. Deakin paid for these repairs and improvements. (R. 315, 318) Ms. Deakin never requested permission from Mr. Gomez to do any of these repairs. (R. 318) On one occasion, Ms. Deakin did ask Mr. Gomez for financial assistance for a repair, but he refused because he told her that the house was hers, and she could do with it as she pleased. (R. 318) Ms. Deakin’s conduct is clearly inconsistent with the rights of Mr. and Mrs. Gomez. She has made significant and substantial changes to and improvements to the duplex. Mr. Gomez has been on notice, but neither he nor his wife have visited or taken any interest in the property since at least 1993. (R. 320) Ms. Deakin’s conduct has been inconsistent with the rights and interests of Mr. and Mrs. Gomez for more than seven-years.

D. Taxes

The claimant must have paid all taxes levied against the property for seven-years prior to filing the action. (U.C.A. §78-12-12) Mr. Gomez admitted that he has never paid any of the property taxes for the duplex. (R. Admitted Facts 319, 320) Mrs. Gomez also has not paid property taxes for the duplex. (Id.) Ms. Deakin has paid the taxes along the mortgage payments for more than seven-years. (R. 315-317, 319-324) The copies of all of Ms. Deakin's cancelled checks for the past 20-years clearly proves that Ms. Deakin has paid all taxes levied and assessed against the property. (R. 314-325; see Transcript to Preliminary Injunction Hearing)

The trial court correctly found and concluded that:

... the statutory and case law elements for quiet title and adverse possession have been met by Plaintiff in that she has shown that she was given the property in question and thereafter has had actual, adverse, exclusive, open, notorious, visible, continuous, and undisturbed possession for a period of seven-years or greater and that she has continuously paid the property taxes on the property during a period exceeding seven-years, and that she has made and paid for improvements to the property. (R. 322)

For the reasons stated above, the trial court's findings and conclusions should be affirmed on the issue of adverse possession.

CONCLUSION

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